Supporting the complete care of children and young people with life-threatening or life-shortening conditions, and their families: a mixed-method study of pastoral, spiritual and religious needs and support, and the role of chaplaincy services (The SPARK project)

Protocol

Version 1.4 18/03/2022

Chief Investigator:

Professor Bryony Beresford
Social Policy Research Unit & Martin House Research Centre
University of York

Funder:

National Institute for Health Research's (NIHR)
Health Services and Delivery (HS&DR) programme
NIHR reference no: HS&DR 128468

Sponsored by:

University of York Sponsor reference number: R23169

ISRCTN registration number: 41288313

Contents

1	Gen	eral information	4
	1.1	Funder acknowledgement and disclaimer	4
	1.2	Key study contacts	4
	1.3	Protocol version history	4
	1.4	Non-substantial amendments	5
	1.5	Study Steering Committee	6
	1.6	Advisory Panels	6
2	Bacl	kground	7
3	Rati	onale	10
4	The	oretical framework	11
5	Rese	earch objectives	11
6	Stud	dy design/methods	12
	6.1	The study's definition of 'facing end of life'	12
	6.2	Overview of design	12
	6.3	Study flow diagram	14
7		1: Survey of NHS chaplaincy services and spiritual care provision in children's	
h	ospices	·	
	7.1	Design	
	7.2	Data collection	
	7.3	Data analysis	
8	WP2	2: Views and experiences of chaplaincy staff	
	8.1	Design	
	8.2	Sampling	
	8.3	Setting	17
	8.4	Data collection	
	8.5	Data analysis	
9	WP3	3: Views & experiences of children/young people, & parents	
	9.1	Design	
	9.2	Sampling	19
	9.3	Research sites	21
	9.4	Recruitment	
	9.5	Setting	
	9.6	Mitigating risk of distress or other negative impacts of participation	22
	9.7	Data collection	22

9.8	Data analysis	24	
10	WP4: Views & experiences clinical and care teams	24	
10.	1 Design	24	
10.	2 Sampling	24	
10.	3 Setting	25	
10.	4 Data collection	25	
10.	5 Data analysis	25	
11	Data analysis: WP2 – WP4	25	
11.	1 Development of the coding frameworks	26	
11.	2 Coding, data extraction, data reduction and data synthesis	26	
11.	3 Analytical writing and data synthesis	26	
12	Ethical and regularity compliance	27	
13	Dissemination policy	27	
14 References			
15	Appendix 1: Strategies to manage risks associated with WP3	35	

1 General information

1.1 Funder acknowledgement and disclaimer

This study is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Services and Delivery Research Programme (NIHR128468). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

1.2 Key study contacts

Chief Investigator	Professor Bryony Beresford
	Social Policy Research Unit
	University of York, York. YO10 5DD
	Tel: +44 (0)1904 321960
	Email: bryony.beresford@york.ac.uk
Sponsor	Dr Michael Barber
	Contracts & Sponsorship Manager
	RCH/135, Ron Cooke Hub, University of York, York. YO10 5GE
	Tel: +44 (0)1904 328693
	Email: michael.barber@york.ac.uk

1.3 Protocol version history

Version	Date	IRAS Amendment number	Summary of main changes
1.0 (as funded)	07/08/20	n/a	Version of protocol as funded
1.1 (as submitted to HRA)	04/01/20	n/a	WP1: primary mode of survey completion changed to electronic. (Decision based on consultation with NHS chaplains during survey development.) WP1: respondent for children's hospice survey changed from chaplain to head of care. (Decision based on consultation with NHS chaplains during survey development.) WP1: greater distinction made between data collected from NHS Acute Trusts and children's hospices. (Decision based on consultation with children's hospice spiritual care leads/chaplains during survey development.) WP2-4: data collection may also occur via telephone/video calls. WP2: additional sampling characteristic: 'reach' of chaplaincy service into paediatric departments. (Decision based on WP1 findings)

			 WP3: Recruitment process amended on advice of PAG: sites distribute brief study information and expression of interest (EoI) form EoI form offers two options request full information sheet via post request phone contact plus full information sheet via post WP3: On advice of PAG, addition of recruitment of parents and young people (16+ years) via social media WP3: Use of preparatory 'project workbook' posted to children/young people in advance of interview.
1.2	O4/08/2021 (REC approved: 21/10/201)	1	WP3: sub-sample B: addition of parents to the sample WP3: chaplaincy teams added as recruitment pathway for parents/young people>16 yrs who have self-referred/been referred to them and who they have supported in a substantive way. WP4: further specification of target sample.
1.3	22/11/2021 (Deemed non-substantial amendment: sponsor approval: 29/11/2021)	3	WP3: sub-sample C: maximum period of bereavement extended from 2 to 3 years.
1.4	18/03/2022 (Deemed non- substantial amendment: sponsor approval: 21/03/2022)	4	 WP3: sub-sample A − young people extended maximum age to 21 years

1.4 Non-substantial amendments

Amendment	Date	Summary of main changes
no.		
1	29/9/2021	Addition of PICs
2	18/10/2021	Revised versions of all study recruitment materials. Sponsor sign off.

1.5 Study Steering Committee

A Study Steering Committee will be appointed and will execute its responsibilities as set out in NIHR guidance:

https://www.nihr.ac.uk/documents/research-governance-guidelines/12154
The committee will meet on at least three occasions over the course of the project.

1.6 Advisory Panels

Separate Advisory Panels of young adults (18-25 years) and parents will be appointed. The Study Steering Committee will include Panel representatives. The budget includes funds for appropriate recompense to panel members as per INVOLVE guidelines. Advisory Panels will be closely involved in devising and reviewing recruitment strategies and materials, topic guides and facilitatory techniques, data analysis and interpretation, and refining the dissemination strategy and its delivery. The study will maintain a log of all PPI work and impacts of PPI on the study.

2 Background

This study falls under an area of interest specified by NIHR's themed call on End of Life Care, namely end of life care for infants, children and young people with life-limiting conditions. Its focus is the spiritual care of children and young people facing end of life, and their parents.

A life-shortening or life-threatening condition brings significant and unavoidable challenges. That death and dying cause suffering that goes beyond the merely physical is a central tenet of palliative care.^{1, 2} Meeting spiritual needs is a core element of palliative care,³⁻⁵ responding to the fact that people facing end of life find themselves needing to interpret, make sense of, and find meaning in what is happening to them and, perhaps, resolve things that have happened in their lives.⁶⁻⁹ Some also seek, or draw on, religious, faith or spiritual beliefs as sources of hope or strength, or to assist decision-making. Whilst typically a positive resource, such beliefs may create dilemmas and raise critical questions.¹⁰ Failing to address such needs increases suffering at end of life, and adversely affects the quality of life well-being of individual and their families.¹¹⁻¹⁶

NHS England¹⁷ defines spiritual care as "care provided in the context of illness which addresses the expressed <u>spiritual</u>, <u>pastoral</u> and <u>religious</u> needs of patients, staff and service users. These needs are likely to include one or more of the following: ways to support recovery; issues concerning mortality; religious convictions, rituals and practices; non-religious convictions and practices; relationships of significance; a sense of the sacred; and exploration of beliefs." (p5; our emphases) This definition draws on, and aligns with, an international consensus definition of spirituality.³

Chaplaincy services are identified as the key provider of "pastoral, spiritual and religious care" in the NHS.¹⁷ This specification acknowledges that, regardless of religious belief, any patient/family may have pastoral or spiritual needs. Staffed by NHS chaplains and volunteers, chaplaincy is not affiliated to any specific religion and staff no longer need to hold a religious belief. Whilst traditionally viewed as separate from clinical services, in some NHS trusts chaplaincy services now sit within nursing directorates, acknowledging their role in direct patient care and experience. Whilst chaplaincy services are the key specialist provider in the NHS, patients may also seek pastoral, spiritual and religious support from other healthcare professionals. Supporting clinical colleagues in this is an important role for chaplaincy services.^{18, 19}

Chaplains' willingness and ability to engage in conversations that health professionals may feel uncomfortable with, or do not have the time, confidence or skills to engage in, places them in a unique position in end-of-life care. ^{18, 20-24} They may also work to 'upskill' other healthcare staff to identify and/or respond to patients' pastoral and spiritual needs. ²⁵ Clinical guidance also identifies chaplains as a possible resource when managing clinical issues, such as pain and agitation. ²⁶ They may also facilitate conversations and/or advocate for patients/families in ethically challenging situations (e.g. withdrawal of treatment). ²¹ For those with religious beliefs, chaplaincy services can support them to practice their faith. The

particular and significant role of chaplaincy within palliative care is reflected in NHS England guidance for a higher intensity of chaplaincy staff in these services.¹⁷

A Cochrane review of spiritual and religious interventions for adults at end of life ²⁷ concluded that the NHS's broad approach to providing spiritual care aligns with existing (though weak) evidence supporting person-centred, non-judgemental, relational care rather than protocol driven interventions. However, it noted the quality of evidence was poor and described the need for research on spiritual care as "urgent"(p14), particularly given competing demands for resources for non-medical care.²⁷ A subsequent study of adult palliative care patients aligns with these conclusions, stating that 'human connectedness' (eg. compassion, empathy) and opportunities for conversations about existential concerns are key components of high quality spiritual care.¹⁰

Despite the importance placed on it by NHS policy¹⁷ and clinical guidance,^{4, 5} recent reviews of healthcare chaplaincy ^{21, 28, 29} show it is of poor quality and largely limited to the North American context. The most robust findings concern the value patients place on chaplaincy services.³⁰ An historic lack of research culture within the chaplaincy profession is acknowledged⁸ and perhaps explains the absence of research investment. A handful of NIHR projects (older people's care, mental illness) refer to spiritual care/chaplaincy, but it was/is not the primary focus.

Pastoral, spiritual and religious care of children with life-limiting conditions

In England there are ~40,000 babies, children (0-18 years) living with a life-threatening or life-shortening condition (we collectively refer to these as life-limiting conditions (LLC) forthwith).³¹ This represents a wide range of diagnoses including, for example, cancer, neurodegenerative conditions, kidney and heart disease, some chromosomal and metabolic disorders, and children with profound and global impairments. It also includes premature babies. Together, they cause of half of childhood deaths.³² The illness trajectory of some conditions is predictable, for others there is great uncertainty. Some require intensive treatment whilst cure is attempted or efforts made to minimise the impacts of the disease or degeneration. In any year ~4000 children will die and, estimates suggest, ~10,000 will face death due to a medical crisis or inexorable deterioration.^{26, 33}

Towards end of life, medical teams may involve specialist NHS paediatric palliative care services in caring for the child. They may also work with children's hospices (~45 in England) to provide end of life care and bereavement support. In addition to meeting the children's needs, are the needs of parents and other family members.

Existing evidence

There is a substantive body of work on the implications of cognitive and psychosocial development when considering the spiritual care of children and young people generally.^{34,} ³⁵ Such work confirms that children and young people have such needs,³⁶ and also highlights the ways development affects the specific nature of such needs, how they are expressed and how to meet those needs.³⁷⁻⁴²

A recent qualitative meta-synthesis on studies investigating spirituality of children and young people with chronic (and including life-limiting) conditions drew the following conclusions.⁴³ The ways in which children and young people make meaning of their situation may differ to adults. Relationships and communication with others are key to this process. Religious beliefs may be an important coping resource. Access to spiritual care in healthcare settings was unusual. Finally, the authors note this body of evidence comes predominantly from North American studies. Others have observed the illness experience may cause either a regression or acceleration of maturity (including understandings of death), making the provision of 'developmentally appropriate' spiritual care complex and challenging.^{44, 45}

A recent systematic review ⁴⁶ on the symptoms, concerns and outcomes that matter to children and young people with LLC confirms the importance of acknowledging and attending to children and young people's spiritual needs. It found that spiritual/existential/religious issues were reported by over half of the included studies (n=37/68). Needs/issues reported included experiences of existential loss (e.g. loss of past ways of being in the world, loss of a future), existential vacuum (i.e. an inability to find or create meaning in life), not being at peace, longing, worry about the future and/or death, needing sources of hope and to be remembered. Other studies reported children, young people and parents' descriptions of feeling 'connected' to something larger than self, and this supported resilience. Again, the majority of these studies were North American, with just one from the UK.

A systematic review, drawing on a similar body of literature, specific to children and adolescents with cancer, ¹³ was carried out with the objective to inform the scope of the American Psychosocial Oncology Society's Standards for the psychosocial care in paediatric oncology. ⁴⁷ It concluded that the quality of the evidence was sufficient to make a strong recommendation for spiritual needs assessments of children and families. Two further standards were therefore proposed for paediatric oncology within the US: systematic assessments of spiritual care needs, and "spiritual care offerings congruent with family belief systems during and after treatment".

Existing research also points to the specific and distinctive issues for children and young people facing death (and/or their parents) compared to adult patients. Their fragile mortality and the untimely nature of impending death are particularly distressing and challenging for (older) children and parents to reconcile ^{40, 48}. There are generational differences in the extent to which formal religion is seen as relevant to meeting spiritual needs, and beliefs held by children may differ from their parents. ^{48, 49}

Furthermore, parental bereavement is qualitatively different to spousal bereavement.⁵⁰⁻⁵² Evidence reviews, and more recently published research, on parents' needs identify spiritual support during end of life and bereavement as a dominant need and deficiencies in meeting such needs.⁵³⁻⁵⁵

These different bodies of work point to a potential challenge for chaplaincy services in terms of the skills and competencies of chaplaincy staff. Much of the writing on chaplaincy,

including practice guidelines, pays limited attention to spiritual care and chaplaincy of children, young people and parents, the implications this has for practice and/or the unique issues they may be facing. ^{56, 57} Informal scoping work carried out in preparation for this bid suggests there may be differences between children's and general hospitals in terms of access to chaplaincy services and the extent to which chaplaincy services include staff with specialist training in providing spiritual care to children and young people. This raises questions both in terms of access to spiritual care for children and their parents, and also the adequacy and quality of that care.

3 Rationale

NICE guidance on end of life care of children⁴ stipulates the spiritual needs of children and their families should be addressed, including during bereavement. However, evidence suggests such needs are among those most likely to remain unmet.^{43,52-54,58}

In terms of research attention and investment, spiritual care is a relatively neglected aspect of palliative care, particularly for neonatal and paediatric populations. ⁴³ In line with the requirements of the 2010 Equality Act, NHS England guidance on Chaplaincy Services highlights issues of equality of access to pastoral and spiritual care, regardless of religion or belief (or non-belief). Equally important is equity of access regardless of age. To achieve this, a more robust evidence base is required to ensure developmentally appropriate, high quality spiritual care and support is available to children and young people with LLC and their families. Another key barrier to children and young people with LLC facing end of life accessing spiritual care and support is health care professionals' lack of awareness and confidence with respect to identifying such needs, and a lack of understanding of the potential roles and contribution of chaplaincy services to holistic, end of life care.²¹

Existing evidence to inform commissioning and delivery of chaplaincy services for children and young people with LLC and their parents is minimal.⁵⁹ Most is non-UK and skewed towards certain faiths.^{28, 43, 46} Differences between countries in degree of secularisation, religions practiced, the diversity of interpretation and belief within religions, and societal changes over time further constrain use of existing evidence.^{60, 61} We also know little about how faith interacts with other aspects of a person's identity when used as an explanatory resource.⁶²

It is, therefore, perhaps unsurprising that two research recommendations of the NICE guidance⁴ speak to the issue of spiritual care and chaplaincy, namely:

- What emotional support do children with life-limiting conditions and their parents or carers need, and how would they like these needs to be addressed?
- What are children's and families' perceptions and attitudes about chaplaincy in neonatal and paediatric end of life care, and when would they like to access religious and spiritual support?

Spiritual care has also been identified as a key research topic in recent research prioritisation exercises. (We note that earlier exercises do not identify this, perhaps due to

significant under-representation of children/young people and parents⁶³). For example, within our Centre's research prioritisation work, non-clinical professionals and young people both identified this topic as top priority.⁶⁴ Similarly, a top priority of James Lind Alliance's recent teenage and young adult cancer priority setting partnership (What are the best ways of supporting a young person who has incurable cancer?) also speaks to this issue.⁶⁵

This study will generate evidence to support evidence-informed change and practice in the provision of pastoral, spiritual and religious care, through chaplaincy services and other health/care professionals, to children and young people facing end of life and their parents.

4 Theoretical framework

The overarching theoretical framework for the research is the biopsychosocial-spiritual (BPS-S) model of healthcare. Ge-68 This adds 'spirituality' as a further intersecting component to the biopsychosocial model of health, illness and well-being which, over recent decades, has had a profound influence on healthcare including foundational concepts such as personcentred care and holistic care. Thus, as with biopsychosocial model, the BPS-S argues that the different component interact with and affect each other. Thus, intervening on one component may have impacts on others. Furthermore, all components are implicated in maintaining or achieving of a state of 'health' or 'wellness' A revised version of the model 66 accommodates the fact the individuals may differ in the extent to which the spiritual dimension is salient or important to them.

A further, separate point is that, as noted earlier, research on chaplaincy, spiritual and pastoral care, is relatively under-developed including theoretical frameworks by which we can understand how such care 'works' and the outcomes it achieves. 70 71 One of the contributions of this study will be to further that understanding, particularly with respect to children and families, and the meaning of spiritual and pastoral care for children with very complex needs.

5 Research objectives

- To describe the organisation and delivery of NHS and hospice chaplaincy services, and identify differences in the nature of provision for children, parents & adult patients.
- To investigate equity of access to chaplaincy services for children and parents, and factors affecting access.
- To describe the spiritual needs of children and parents, preferences regarding sources of support, and their experiences of having those needs met or remain unmet.
- To understand the differences between providing chaplaincy services to children, parents and adult patients, and the implications for service provision and staff training.
- To describe children's and parents' attitudes, understanding and experiences of accessing and using chaplaincy services.
- To identify the (potential) roles of clinical teams in identifying and responding to the spiritual needs of children, young people and parents, and the barriers and facilitators to these roles being fulfilled.

6 Study design/methods

6.1 The study's definition of 'facing end of life'

This study was funded within NIHR's cross-programme end of life theme. It defined people at end of life as "people who are likely to die within 12 months". This is challenging to apply in the paediatric population. Many LLC diagnosed in childhood do not have predictable trajectories, thus determining when a child is at 'end of life' is problematic and there is insufficient evidence currently to use tools such as the "surprise question" with this population. ^{33, 72} In addition, spiritual needs associated with end of life may well arise (and need attending to) earlier in disease trajectory (e.g. at diagnosis, time of significant medical intervention, significant evidence of deterioration). ^{13, 73} Furthermore, evidence from the adult literature suggests the way such needs are attended to throughout the disease trajectory affects quality of life at the end stage.

For these reasons, for this study, children and young people 'facing end of life' will be defined as:

- children and young people who are 'actively' dying;
- children and young people definitively known to be at end stage (e.g. active treatment/ management has been withdrawn, palliative care only);
- children and young people who may die within the next twelve months, defined as having experienced one or more of the following within the past twelve months:
 - an acute life-threatening event associated with their condition or comorbidities (e.g. chest infection requiring temporary tracheostomy)
 - awaiting treatment/intervention due to significant deterioration or stage in trajectory of the condition (e.g. kidney transplant)
 - o currently being treated for cancer.

6.2 Overview of design

The lack of evidence demands an exploratory approach. The study comprises primary research, organised into four workpackages (WP):

- WP1: survey of NHS chaplaincy services and equivalent survey of children's hospices WP2: focus groups with NHS chaplaincy staff and staff assuming an equivalent/similar role in children's hospices
- WP3: interviews with children, young people and parents
- WP4: focus groups with clinical team/care team staff

Together, they address the research objectives (see Table 1).

Table 1: Contribution of work packages (WPs) to study objectives.

Objective	WP(s)
Describe the organisation and delivery of NHS and hospice chaplaincy/spiritual care services, and identify differences in the nature of provision for children, parents & adult patients.	1, 2
Investigate equity of access to chaplaincy services for children and parents, and factors affecting access.	1, 2
Describe the spiritual support needs of children and parents, preferences regarding sources of support, and their experiences of having those needs met or remain unmet.	2, 3, 4
Understand the differences between providing chaplaincy services to children, parents and adult patients, and the implications for service provision and staff training.	2, 3
Describe children's and parents' attitudes, understanding and experiences of accessing and using chaplaincy services	2, 3, 4
Identify (potential) roles of clinical team in identifying & responding to spiritual needs of children, young people and parents, and the barriers/facilitators to these roles being fulfilled.	2, 3, 4

Design of the qualitative investigation (Work Packages 2-4)

The qualitative research is phenomenological in its approach. We will investigate the spiritual needs of children and young people facing end of life, and their parents, by triangulating a number of different sources of data.⁷⁴

This does not, however, include the *direct* involvement of children and young people who are dying. This is because, from an ethical perspective and on the basis of existing evidence, we do not believe the case can be made for the imperative to seek the direct involvement of children at end stage. Our sources of data on the spiritual needs of children and young people facing end of life, and those of their parents, will therefore be drawn from data across the qualitative workpackages.

Specifically, the WP3 sample comprises children and young people (and parents) who either: i) who have survived cancer, ii) whose condition and health indicates they may die in the next twelve months; iii) have lost a baby, child or young person to a life-threatening or life-shortening condition. Some study participants recruited to WP2 and WP4 will have extensive experience of experience of caring for and supporting children and young people dying or facing death (including those who are very young, have complex needs and/or significant cognitive impairment).

6.3 Study flow diagram

Pre-award:

Recruit Young People and Parent Advisory Panels
Appoint Study Steering Committee
HRA scrutiny & decision re WP1

WP1: Preparation and execution

Cross-sectional, national survey of NHS acute trusts and hopsice chaplaincy services (n=300)

Findings generate stanadlone evidence and identification of WP2 sites

WP2-4: Preparatory work

Ethics and governance approvals

Preparation and piloting of interview and focus group topic guides and tools/activities to faciliate interviews/focus groups Identification, recruitment and training of WP3 & 4 research sites

WP2: Qualitative research with chaplaincy staff

Focus groups (n=15; total sample=~100) with **chaplaincy staff** (NHS & children's hospices).

Research sites purposively selected to represent organisational setting, competencies within team, staff religion, ethnic and religious characteristics of local population.

WP3: Qualitative research with families

Interviews with **children & young people** (10-18 yrs) facing/faced end of life (n=45, including those likely to be in last 12 months of live & cancer survivors) and **parents** (n=45, including those of children (0-18 yrs) facing end of life and those bereaved).

Samples purposively recruited to represent range of age, gender, diagnoses, faith, care setting, access/use of chaplaincy.

WP4: Qualitative research with clinical/care staff

Focus groups (n=~10; total sample=~80) with members of clinical / care teams, purposively recruited to represent:profession, post/role, duration of experience, personal beliefs. Research sites same as for WP3.

Data analysis

Including, where appropriate and according to study design, **synthesis of data** from different WPs. Followed by identification and consideration of the **implications** of research findings.

Implementation of dissemination and impact strategy

7 WP1: Survey of NHS chaplaincy services and spiritual care provision in children's hospices

The purpose of WP1 is to describe current provision of chaplaincy services for children and young people with LLC, and their parents, within acute NHS trusts and equivalent provision in children's hospices (this may not be termed 'chaplaincy'), and to compare this to provision for adult patients and their families. Findings from WP1 will inform sampling for WP2.

IRAS Project ID: 288298

7.1 Design

Cross-sectional surveys of heads of chaplaincy services in acute NHS trusts (n=~140) and heads of care of children's hospices across the UK (n=~50).

7.2 **Data collection**

Previous work mapping chaplaincy across all sectors⁷⁵ will inform survey content. Chaplains, including co-applicants (representing specialist children's and general NHS settings, and children hospices), will advise survey development and pilot the survey. Piloting will involve a member of the research team observing completion and the use cognitive interview techniques to ascertain clarity of language and instructions, meaningfulness, ease of completion and identify any relevant gaps in the data being collected. Any required revisions will be carried out prior to data collection.

The survey of NHS Acute Trusts will collect the following data:

- location within the organisation (e.g. nursing/patient care vs other directorate).
- staffing (e.g. salaried vs volunteers, duration in post of salaried staff, faiths represented);
- number of staff trained in working with children/young people (including nature of qualifications);
- clinical services/departments (e.g. wards, vs outpatient clinics vs emergency department vs community/outreach services) in which routinely work (e.g. have chaplaincy staff assigned);
- characteristics (e.g. age, condition, faith, ethnicity) of children and young people, and their families, whom support;
- relative use of chaplaincy services by children, young people & parents vs other patient groups;
- extent and ways in which chaplaincy services are used by paediatric vs adult healthcare staff, and relative use by these two staff groups;

The survey of heads of care of all UK children's hospices will collect the following data:

- number of post(s) within hospice with identified responsibility for spiritual and religious care;
- nature of above posts including: f.t.e., position of post in organisational structure (e.g. integrated into care team vs separate); scope of role (e.g. family vs staff

IRAS Project ID: 288298

support; bereavement support), and characteristics of individual in post (e.g. faith, training etc.);

- any changes to posts/provision in past 5 years;
- nature of arrangements with local faith leaders to provide spiritual/religious care to families;
- faith profile of families using the hospice;
- data routinely collected regarding child/young person and parents' faith;
- inclusion of spiritual and religious care/support needs in routine needs assessment and advance care planning processes;
- type(s) of belief space/sanctuary offered;
- types and presence/availability of faith artefacts within hospice.

Desk-based research will identify contact details for service leads of all acute and children's NHS trusts chaplaincy services and children's hospice's heads of care. The primary mode of completion will be electronic (via *Qualtrics* survey platform) with postal completion also offered. Email and, if required, postal will support response rate. To support response, news of the study (including imminent distribution of the survey), will be cascaded out via chaplaincy networks and groups.

7.3 Data analysis

Data will be input (10% double-entered etc.) or downloaded (on-line completion) into SPSS. Most questions will be fixed response. However, a few will require a short, free-text response. These data will be subject to conventional content analysis⁷⁶ either to create codes/categories to transform responses into quantitative data, or to enable analysis and reporting of free text (i.e. qualitative) data. Quantitative data will be analysed using descriptive and comparative statistical techniques. Specifically, we will use univariate descriptive statistics to explore and describe categorical (e.g. location of chaplaincy service within organisation, faiths represented within chaplaincy service, settings in which routinely work) and numerical (e.g. number and full-time equivalent of paid and volunteer chaplaincy staff) data. Informed by our research questions, we will use cross-tabulation (and chi-square statistic) to describe and compare practices and provision of chaplaincy services staff, between child and adult patients and between organisational setting.

8 WP2: Views and experiences of chaplaincy staff

This work stream will generate qualitative evidence on chaplaincy staff's views and experiences of the spiritual needs of children and young people facing end of life, their parents and the staff involved in their care, and the ways chaplaincy (and any equivalent services in children's hospices) meets those needs.

8.1 Design

Cross-sectional qualitative study utilising focus group methodology.

8.2 Sampling

Using WP1 data, NHS research sites will be selected to ensure representation of the following characteristics:

- organisational setting: children's NHS Trusts vs general acute (no children's hospital) vs general acute (includes a children's hospital)
- staff qualifications/competencies (specialist training in paediatric chaplaincy or not)
- extent of 'reach' into paediatric departments, including provision/practices specific to paediatric setting
- chaplaincy staff's faith/religion
- faiths/religions represented in local population

Children's hospice research sites will be selected to ensure representation of:

- different models of providing spiritual and religious care as identified by WP1
- staff's faith/religion
- faiths/religions represented in local population

Focus group participants will be required to have a certain level of experience (duration, intensity/amount) of working in chaplaincy/spiritual care provision. Findings from WP1 will be used to further specify sampling characteristics and eligibility criteria.

In order to populate the sampling frame, we anticipateholding ~12 focus groups with NHS chaplaincy teams and three with children's hospice staff (including local faith leaders with honorary contracts) responsible for spiritual care/religious support. Focus groups with NHS staff will include salaried chaplains and chaplaincy 'visitors'. Size of the groups will range from 5-8 participants, thus yielding a total sample size of 75-120.

8.3 **Setting**

Focus groups will be held in hospital/hospice facilities or via video-conferencing (e.g. MS Teams, Zoom). For face-to-face focus groups with hospice staff, one hospice will host the focus group with staff in nearby hospices also attending.

8.4 Data collection

Focus groups will be conducted either via face-to-face meetings or via video-conferencing (e.g. MS Teams, Zoom). Focus groups are likely to vary in the relevant expertise/experiences of participants. For example, chaplaincy staff in general hospitals will have experience of working with adult patients and parents, and providing chaplaincy in a general hospital setting. However, based on work carried out in preparation for this bid, their experiences of working directly with children and young people may be quite limited. In contrast, chaplaincy staff working in children's hospitals and hospices will have greater experience of supporting children and young people, and their parents. However, they will not be able to compare these experiences with adult patients. Finally, chaplains and spiritual care leads/staff in children's hospices will have greatest experience of working with bereaved parents (certainly over the longer term) and, we anticipate, the most developed

understanding of spiritual care of children with very complex needs.⁴¹ Thus, topic guides will be tailored specifically to the characteristics of focus group participants.

We will use facilitatory activities (e.g. individual/pair exercises, small group work) to support articulation of views and experiences. Focus groups will last at least two hours. To secure the depth of information we require, focus groups with chaplaincy staff in children's hospitals/hospices will be of a longer duration (~ 4 hours). If logistically easier, this will be spread over two sessions.

A week or so prior to a focus group, participants will be sent succinct information about the objectives of the focus group and topics to be discussed and asked, if possible, to spend some time reflecting on these prior to the focus group. A 'notes to self' sheet will be provided should individuals wish to record thoughts and reflections. Participants will be encouraged to bring these to their focus group.

Views and experiences on the follow topics will be explored. The listing does not necessarily reflect the order in which they will be raised and not all topics will be relevant/dealt with the same depth:

- spiritual care and support needs of children and young people, and their parents facing end of life, and how these needs may be indicated or expressed;
- factors affecting needs experienced (e.g. age, beliefs, disease stage, complexity of need) and influencing likelihood of such needs remaining unmet;
- differences between child and adult patients, and parents vs other family members in terms of nature of spiritual needs;
- broad objectives, and outcomes sought, of chaplaincy services and how these are understood or operationalised with different patient groups;
- the ways spiritual care is provided to patients and their families by chaplaincy services, both generally and specifically in end of life situations;
- 'adjustments' to practice/ways of working when supporting children and young people and/or parents compared to adult patients and their families, and specific challenges;
- specific knowledge, skills and competencies associated with providing chaplaincy services in paediatric settings, and with respect to end of life care;
- other sources of spiritual support known to be used by patients and their families (e.g. the clinical team, other NHS professionals (e.g. ward nurses, informal and community sources);
- factors affecting the sources of support used or access to such sources of support;
- barriers (e.g. organisational, staff- or patient/family-centred factors) to meeting the spiritual support needs of patients and their families facing end of life; differences between paediatric and adult patients and within the paediatric population;
- existing and potential roles of other NHS staff in identifying and/or spiritual support needs, and factors which support or act as barriers to this happening;
- the ways clinical teams/MDTs currently use chaplaincy services (as staff members and/or in the management of a case), and factors this use;
- other potential contributions of chaplaincy to staff/clinical teams;

actual and perceived potential roles re support to community faith leaders.

8.5 Data analysis

See Section 11.

9 WP3: Views & experiences of children/young people, & parents

The purpose of this WP is to hear directly from children and young people, and parents, about their spiritual care and support needs, sources of support, and their experiences of accessing and using spiritual care within NHS or children's hospice settings, including chaplaincy services.

9.1 **Design**

Cross-sectional qualitative study involving semi-structured, in-depth interview with 3 subsamples of children and young people ($n=^45$) and parents ($n=^45$):

- Sub-sample A: children and young people who may die in the next twelve months but are not at end stage/dying, and parents of such children and young people;
- Sub-sample B: children/young people who have survived cancer and their parents;
- Sub-sample C: bereaved parents.

9.2 Sampling

We will purposively sample to ensure a range of faiths/beliefs (including non-religious), gender, use of NHS/hospice chaplaincy services, and age/developmental stage are represented in the overall samples of children/young people and parents. Inclusion criteria vary between sub-samples.

Sub-sample A

This sub-sample represents children and young people where the diagnosis and/or changes in their health indicate they may die within the next 12 months. Three types of life-limiting condition have been selected to represent different disease trajectories, likelihood of success of medical intervention, regularity of contact with clinical team/inpatient episodes, age at diagnosis, and impacts of LLC on everyday life. Target sample sizes are: children & young people: n=~25: parents of such children: n=~25.

Inclusion criteria:

Child/young person participants:

- $^{\sim}10^1 \frac{2118}{}$ years
- diagnosed with:
 - o relapsed cancer, or cancers, with 75% or less survival rate, (e.g. metastatic bone tumours, high-risk neuroblastoma, very high-risk leukaemias)

¹ One purpose of piloting work will be ascertain the lower age limit

 degenerative genetic, neurological or neuromuscular conditions (e.g. spinal muscular atrophy, Duchenne muscular dystrophy) and evidence of significant deterioration within past twelve months (e.g chest infection requiring hospitalisation)

IRAS Project ID: 288298

- kidney failure.
- does not have a significant cognitive impairment
- is aware of the (potentially) life-limiting nature of the condition.
- not at end stage/dying

Parent participants:

- parents of children (0-18 years) with above characteristics
- parents of children with above characteristics except
 - o child has significant cognitive impairment
 - o AND/OR child is unaware of (potentially) life-limiting nature of condition

Sub-sample B

The rationale for including this group is that having lived through a period of being acutely aware they may die, the elapse of time since then has facilitated a process of reflection and sense-making.⁷⁷ We believe, therefore, they will bring additional insights into the experience of facing death as a child or young person, and given their current state of health (and good prognosis), may be more able to explore these experiences very openly compared to sub-sample A. We will purposively sample for a range of age at diagnosis (5-17yrs), thus some recruited will be 19 years and older. Total target sample size: n=~20-25 (~10-15 children/young people; ~10-15 parents)

Inclusion criteria:

Child/young person participants:

- children and young people (12 18 years) and young adults (19- 24 years);
- have transferred to long-term follow-up (LTFU) within the past 12 months and within ten years of end of treatment. [Note: transfer to LTFUT is locally defined by Primary Treatment Centres and ranges from ~2-5 years post end of active treatment];
- cancer diagnosis occurred between ages of 5 and 17 years;
- does not have significant cognitive impairment

Parent participants:

- parent of child/young person as above
- child may have significant cognitive impairment

Sub-sample C

This sub-sample comprises bereaved parents, and they will be asked about their own spiritual needs (before and after death) and also their observations and reflections regarding their child's needs. This sub-sample is, therefore, one of our sources of data regarding children's/young people's spiritual care and support needs in the end stages. Guided by previous research with bereaved parents ⁷⁸, views of our Centre's PPI Family Advisory Board, and our own research experiences, we will seek to recruit parents whose child died no less than 3 months, and no more than 3 years previously. The ages of children and young people represented in this sample will be 0-18 years. Target sample size: n=~20

9.3 Research sites

Research sites will be clinical departments in NHS Children's Trusts and other children's hospitals, and children's hospices. There will be at least two NHS sites per 'diagnostic' group (relapsed cancer, degenerative neuromuscular, kidney failure, cancer survivors). Their location will ensure representation of different religious beliefs. For sub-sample C, neonatal and paediatric intensive care units will also be research sites.

9.4 **Recruitment**

Using the study's eligibility criteria, research sites will provide the research team with an anonymised list of potential study participants, detailing the sampling characteristics described above. We anticipate more than one member of the clinical team will be involved in this process, particularly so that there is confidence in the judgement made regarding child/young person's awareness of the life-shortening/threatening nature of their condition. The research team will review the anonymised list and use the study's purposive sampling frame to identify those individuals they would like to be approached regarding study participation.

Sites will distribute study recruitment packs, comprising covering letter from research site, brief information sheet, 'expression of interest' (EoI) form (i.e. consent to contact) and reply paid envelope. This may occur in clinic, on the ward/at the hospice, or via post. Where handed over directly, a member of the clinical/care team will briefly introduce the study. Individuals interested in taking part in the study will return the EoI form direct to the research team. The EoI form offers potential participants two options:

- request the full study information sheet plus response form be posted to them;
- request to be contacted by the research team by telephone, with the full study information sheet also posted to them.

The specific process will vary slightly according to the age of the child/young person:

- up to 15 years: parent(s) and child/young person jointly approached with separate versions of brief information sheet provided and joint EoI form
- 16 18 years: young person and parent(s) approached independently.

On receipt of an EoI or response form, a member of the research team will contact the respondent via their preferred means of communication (phone call, text, email), provide an opportunity to ask questions about the study and taking part and, if agreed, make arrangements for an interview.

IRAS Project ID: 288298

In addition, chaplaincy teams in WP3 sites will also distribute study recruitment packs to parents and young people (16+ years) who have self-referred or been referred to them, and whom they have supported in a substantive way (e.g. conducting baby funeral; on-going visits/support during an extended NICU/PICU admission). They will liaise with clinical teams to ensure that potential participants are only approached via one recruitment pathway.

In addition, and on the advice of the study's Parent Advisory Group, we will also recruit via notices posted on social media platforms (e.g. Facebook pages/groups, charity websites) of relevant parent- and third-sector organisations. An on-line version of the 'Expression of Interest' form will also include brief screening information.

Recruitment packs will be translated into the languages represented in the sampling pool. We will work with our Advisory Panels to ensure the language and concepts used in recruitment materials are likely to be widely understood and meaningful. For example, phrases such as 'spiritual needs' may not be used. As well as written information, we will work with our Advisory Panels create two brief information videos (one for parents, one for young people) about the study. The hyperlink (and QR mark) to access these videos will be clearly indicated on information sheets.

9.5 **Setting**

Participants will choose to be interviewed face-to-face or via telephone or video call (e.g. MS Teams, Zoom). Face-to-face interviews will take place at hospital, home or a hospice according to the interviewee's preference.

9.6 Mitigating risk of distress or other negative impacts of participation

The particular vulnerabilities of the samples and the sensitive nature of the interviews means that a comprehensive strategy has to be in place from the outset of this work packpage, see Appendix 1. They are also described or referred to within the relevant sections within the description of this work package.

9.7 Data collection

In-depth, semi-structured interviews will be used and be conversational⁷⁹ in nature. Time and care will be taken at the start of the interview to establish rapport and the structure of the topic guide will be such that 'easier' (that is, more concrete and less sensitive) questions are used both at the beginning and end of the interview. We will be careful not to impose concepts and/or phrasing/language but rather respond to those used by the interviewee. The interviews will explore the experiences and concepts which concern or relate to spiritual needs and care but may not always be 'labelled' or articulated as such by individuals.

Topics covered in interviews, informed by existing research, will include:

- questions and concerns/worries generated by having the condition, and factors /situations which precipitate(d) or heighten such concerns;
- experiences of trying to resolve such questions or concerns, use of informal and formal sources of support within that process;
- experiences of needing/trying to make sense of what is happening, meanings which have been made, and the use of informal and formal sources of support within that process;
- needs for and/or sources of hope, comfort and strength; sources of support used and/or types/sources of support would like to have access to;
- impacts of having condition on feelings (e.g. hope, fear, uncertainty, worth and value, loneliness), strategies to manage negative feelings, sources of support;
- if practising a religion/holding a faith, impacts of situation on beliefs and impacts of beliefs on response to facing end of life;
- regardless of whether or not practising religion/faith, use of any 'religious' practices/rituals (e.g. prayer), and reasons for doing so;
- views on the role of the clinical team other hospital staff in relation to meeting spiritual needs;
- knowledge, understanding of, and attitudes towards, chaplaincy services;
- experiences using of chaplaincy services, and perceived impacts.

Interviews with parents will explore their own needs and experiences and, where relevant, their observations of their child's needs and experiences.

It is our and other researchers' experiences that providing children and young people with preparatory materials in advance of the interview is valued and helpful. 80-82 Prior to interviews we will therefore send child/young person participants a simple, age-appropriate, attractively designed 'project workbook' covering core topics of the interview with space, should they wish, for the interviewee to write or draw responses. The 'workbook' will then act either as an aide-memoire for the child/young person and/or a focus of conversation during the interview.

The interviews themselves will be tailored according to age/developmental stage and, in addition, to the 'project workbook', a range of participatory activities will be used. Such activities will act as 'entry points' from which sensitive or previously unconsidered, or unarticulated, issues can be explored, rather than being used to generate data *per se*. They also serve to 'normalise' the research interview and act as a point of focus thus reducing the need, should the child/young person prefer, for eye to eye contact. Examples of potential activities, widely used in participatory research with children/young people and/or by paediatric chaplaincy teams, ⁸³⁻⁹¹ are set out in Table 2.

Table 2: Examples of potential facilitatory activities

Third person scenarios/vignettes depicted in pictures or simple stories;

Creating own painting/drawing (annotated if they choose) on topic suggested by researcher;

Creating an object/collage from a set of items to display/represent, for example, feelings/emotions, concerns and/or sources of support (e.g. making a bracelet from different colour beads, with each bead representing a different feeling, concern etc.; or different coloured leaves to create a picture of a tree);

Card sorting exercises (e.g. a set of cards each with a different picture/word/simple phrase relevant to a particular topic(s); for example, worries/concerns, feelings, sources of hope, sources of support) from which child/young person selects those true for themselves);

For sub-sample B (cancer survivors), to facilitate recall, sharing and discussing family photographs taken during active treatment.

All tools/activities will be piloted and, recognising that children and young people vary in their interests and preferences, we will ensure at least two activities can be used to explore a topic.

If both parents wish to take part we will offer joint or separate interviews. If a parent and child/young person from the same family take part, different interviewers will be used. All interviewees will have the choice of having a companion. For those preferring to be interviewed in a language other than English, we will use first-language interviewers, specifically recruited, trained and supervised by the research team. We have used this approach very successfully in another project. 92

9.8 **Data analysis**

See Section 11.

10 WP4: Views & experiences clinical and care teams

The purpose of this workpackage is to generate qualitative evidence on: clinical teams' understanding, awareness and use of chaplaincy services, and their perceived impacts; their observations of the spiritual needs of patients, and their parents; and their roles (perceived or actual) in identifying and responding to these needs.

10.1 Design

Cross-sectional qualitative study utilising focus group methodology.

10.2 Sampling

This WP will use the same sites as WP3 (i.e. paediatric oncology, renal, neurology departments and wards, neonatal and paediatric intensive care units, children's hospices). One or two focus groups (depending on number of clinical teams involved) will be held in each Trust ($n=^{\sim}$ 6). A further four focus groups will be held for hospice care/bereavement teams (hosted by different hospices and attended by staff from other hospices in the region). In total $^{\sim}$ 80 staff will participate in this WP.

We will purposively sample to ensure representation of relevant professions (medical, nursing, allied health) as well as setting (e.g. inpatient vs community; clinic/outpatient vs inpatient ward), duration of experience and faith/beliefs.

10.3 Setting

Focus groups will be held in hospital or hospice facilities or conducted via video-conferencing (e.g. MS Teams, Zoom).

10.4 Data collection

For this WP, in particular, it is important to pre-empt likely constraints on time of focus group participants, and the fact that we wish them to consider topics which may not necessarily have previously been reflected on or articulated. For this reason, a few days prior to a focus group, a brief introductory video (lasting no more than 2 minutes) will be shared with focus group participants which provides clear but succinct information about the objectives of the focus group and topics to be discussed. This video will be re-shown at the start of each focus group.

Topics covered in focus groups will include:

- experiences and observations of needs among patients/parent they care for which are relevant to, or which express the need for spiritual care and support;
- ways in which such needs are responded to;
- any routine practices regarding identification or assessment of such needs;
- perceived role and confidence in identifying and meeting such needs;
- views and practices regarding the inclusion of spiritual care in advance care planning;
- knowledge and understanding of chaplaincy services in relation to the care and support
 of patients/parents, for themselves, and/or for the clinical team and clinical decisionmaking;
- practices with respect to use involving chaplaincy services with respect to the care and support of patients/parents, for themselves, and/or for the clinical team and clinical decision-making;
- perceived outcomes of chaplaincy service involvement;
- barriers and facilitators to their involvement.

10.5 Data analysis

See Section 11.

11 Data analysis: WP2 - WP4

Audio-recordings of individual interviews and focus groups will be transcribed. For each WP, some data is discrete to that WP, and other data will be one of the sources being used to

understand and describe children and young people's, and their parents, spiritual care and support needs.

The approach to data analysis will be thematic, ⁹³ with the constant comparative method (internal/within interview, within a participant group, between participant groups) ⁹⁴ used to support the analytical process. Throughout we will be careful to explore the nuanced influences of ethnicity and culture on spiritual care and support needs, preferred sources of support and experiences of using chaplaincy services. At the same time, we will not assume that these influences will play a more dominant role than other factors, including sociodemographic characteristics and past experiences. The Framework Method ^{95, 96} will facilitate systematic data management, data display, and data interpretation and ensure audit trails of the data management process and NVivo software will support the analytical process.

A senior researcher will lead and overview data analysis with respect to a particular study objective(s), with at least one other academic team member closely involved and clinical/practitioner team members actively contributing. We will meet with our parent and young people Advisory Panels at an early stage of the analytical process and again at the stage of drawing conclusions.

11.1 Development of the coding frameworks

A coding framework will be developed through an iterative process of reading, re-reading and comparing transcripts, in which the conceptual clarity and coherence of codes (and higher level themes/concepts), and the comprehensive of the coding framework, will be developed, refined and tested using all relevant data sources.

11.2 Coding, data extraction, data reduction and data synthesis

Once finalised, transcripts will be indexed using the coding framework. Next, indexed data will be extracted (text summaries, verbatim quotes, transcript page number) onto a series of thematic or conceptual matrices, one matrix per theme/concept. Each matrix comprises a series of columns (one column per code within that theme/concept), with the left-hand column carrying information pertaining to relevant participant characteristics. A single row in a matrix holds one participant's data. Thus a row contains all relevant data from a single study participant, and a column contains all data indexed to a specific code. (Multiple sources of data will be extracted into the same matrices).

11.3 Analytical writing and data synthesis

Analytical writings and visual displays⁹⁷ will be used describe the data (including where relevant, within and between group comparisons)⁹⁴ and to support development of theory/concepts and explanations. Again, this is an iterative and 'self-critical' process, both for the individual leading on the piece of writing and others in the team involved in data analysis. Iterations of analytical writing will be used build and test descriptive accuracy, conceptual coherence and explanatory power.

12 Ethical and regularity compliance

Before WPs 2-4 commence, a favourable opinion will be sought from an HRA REC for the study protocol, consent forms, recruitment materials and other relevant documents. Substantial amendments that require REC review will not be implemented until that review is in place.

13 Dissemination policy

Study findings will be published in academic journals (Open Access) and via practitioner, policy and public facing outputs. Findings will be presented at relevant national and international conferences. A dissemination strategy, detailing key audiences, project outputs and pathways to impact will be developed and signed off by the Study Steering Committee. It will be reviewed at subsequent SSCs. A 'live' dissemination log will record dissemination activity.

14 References

- 1. Cassel EJ. The Nature of Suffering and the Goals of Medicine. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1982;**306**:639-45. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198203183061104
- 2. Hartogh Gd. Suffering and dying well: on the proper aim of palliative care. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy* 2017;**20**:413-24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-017-9764-3
- 3. Puchalski C, Ferrell B, Virani R, Otis-Green S, Baird P, Bull J, et al. Improving the quality of spiritual care as a dimension of palliative care: the report of the Consensus Conference. *Journal of palliative medicine* 2009;**12**:885-904. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2009.0142
- 4. NICE. *End of Life care for infants, children and young people with life-limiting conditions.*; 2017. URL: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs160.
- 5. NICE. *End of life care for adults Quality standard*; 2011. URL: nice.org.uk/guidance/qs160.
- 6. Roger KS, Hatala A. Religion, spirituality & chronic illness: A scoping review and implications for health care practitioners. *Journal of Religion & Spirituality in Social Work: Social Thought* 2018;**37**:24-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/15426432.2017.1386151
- 7. Kissane DW. Psychospiritual and existential distress. The challenge for palliative care. *Australian family physician* 2000;**29**:1022-5.
- 8. Fitchett G. Recent Progress in Chaplaincy-Related Research. *The journal of pastoral care & counseling : JPCC* 2017;**71**:163-75. https://doi.org/10.1177/1542305017724811
- 9. Hay D. *Something There: The Biology of the Human Spirit*: Darton Longman & Todd 2006.
- 10. Selman LE, Brighton LJ, Sinclair S, Karvinen I, Egan R, Speck P, et al. Patients' and caregivers' needs, experiences, preferences and research priorities in spiritual care: A focus group study across nine countries. *Palliat Med* 2018;**32**:216-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216317734954
- 11. Kang KA, Han SJ, Lim YS, Kim SJ. Meaning-Centered Interventions for Patients With Advanced or Terminal Cancer: A Meta-analysis. *Cancer nursing* 2018; 10.1097/ncc.0000000000000628. https://doi.org/10.1097/ncc.0000000000000088
- 12. Burlacu A, Artene B, Nistor I, Buju S, Jugrin D, Mavrichi I, *et al.* Religiosity, spirituality and quality of life of dialysis patients: a systematic review. *International urology and nephrology* 2019;**51**:839-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11255-019-02129-x
- 13. Robert R, Stavinoha P, Jones BL, Robinson J, Larson K, Hicklen R, *et al.* Spiritual assessment and spiritual care offerings as a standard of care in pediatric oncology: A recommendation informed by a systematic review of the literature. *Pediatric blood & cancer* 2019; 10.1002/pbc.27764:e27764. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.27764
- 14. Oh PJ, Kim SH. The effects of spiritual interventions in patients with cancer: a meta-analysis. *Oncology nursing forum* 2014;**41**:E290-301. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.Onf.E290-e301
- 15. Steinhauser KE, Fitchett G, Handzo GF, Johnson KS, Koenig HG, Pargament KI, et al. State of the Science of Spirituality and Palliative Care Research Part I: Definitions, Measurement, and Outcomes. *Journal of pain and symptom management* 2017;**54**:428-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.07.028
- 16. Clark PA, Drain M, Malone MP. Addressing patients' emotional and spiritual needs. *Joint Commission journal on quality and safety* 2003;**29**:659-70.

- 17. NHS. NHS Chaplaincy Guidelines 2015: Promoting Excellence in Pastoral, Spiritual and Religious Care; 2015. URL: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/nhschaplaincy-guidelines-2015.pdf.
- 18. Pfaff K, Markaki AJBPC. Compassionate collaborative care: an integrative review of quality indicators in end-of-life care. 2017;16:65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-017-0246-4
- 19. Llewellyn H, Jones L, Kelly P, Barnes J, O'Gorman B, Craig F, et al. Experiences of healthcare professionals in the community dealing with the spiritual needs of children and young people with life-threatening and life-limiting conditions and their families: report of a workshop. 2015;5:232-9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjspcare-2012-000437 %J BMJ Supportive & Dalliative Care
- Best M, Butow P, Olver I. Why do We Find It so Hard to Discuss Spirituality? A Qualitative Exploration of Attitudinal Barriers. J Clin Med 2016;5:77. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm5090077
- 21. Timmins F, Caldeira S, Murphy M, Pujol N, Sheaf G, Weathers E, et al. The Role of the Healthcare Chaplain: A Literature Review; 2017. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2017.1338048.
- Abbott D, Prescott H, Forbes K, Fraser J, Majumdar A. Men with Duchenne muscular dystrophy and end of life planning. *Neuromuscular disorders: NMD* 2017;**27**:38-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2016.09.022
- Best M, Butow P, Olver I. Doctors discussing religion and spirituality: A systematic literature review. *Palliat Med* 2016;**30**:327-37. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216315600912
- Edwards A, Pang N, Shiu V, Chan C. Review: The understanding of spirituality and the potential role of spiritual care in end-of-life and palliative care: a meta-study of qualitative research. Palliative Medicine 2010;**24**:753-70. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216310375860
- Gijsberts HM-J, Liefbroer IA, Otten R, Olsman E. Spiritual Care in Palliative Care: A Systematic Review of the Recent European Literature. Medical Sciences 2019;7. https://doi.org/10.3390/medsci7020025
- Fraser LK, Parslow R. Children with life-limiting conditions in paediatric intensive care units: a national cohort, data linkage study. Archives of Disease in Childhood 2018;103:540. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2017-312638
- 27. Candy B, Jones L, Varagunam M, Speck P, Tookman A, King M. Spiritual and religious interventions for well-being of adults in the terminal phase of disease. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews 2012; 10.1002/14651858.CD007544.pub2:Cd007544. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007544.pub2
- Pesut B, Sinclair S, Fitchett G, Greig M, Koss SE. Health Care Chaplaincy: A Scoping Review of the Evidence 2009-2014. *Journal of health care chaplaincy* 2016;**22**:67-84. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2015.1133185
- Jankowski KR, Handzo GF, Flannelly KJ. Testing the efficacy of chaplaincy care. 29. Journal of health care chaplaincy 2011;17:100-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2011.616166
- 30. Poncin E, Brandt P-Y, Rouiller F, Drouin M, Dandarova Robert Z. Mapping the Healthcare Chaplaincy Literature: An Analytical Review of Publications Authored by Chaplains and Theologians Between 2000 and 2018. Journal of health care chaplaincy 2019; 10.1080/08854726.2019.1593722:1-29. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2019.1593722

- 31. Fraser LK, Miller M, Hain R, Norman P, Aldridge J, McKinney PA, et al. Rising national prevalence of life-limiting conditions in children in England. Pediatrics 2012;129:e923-9. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2846
- Sidebotham P, Fraser J, Fleming P, Ward-Platt M, Hain R. Patterns of child death in 32. England and Wales. Lancet (London, England) 2014;384:904-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(13)61090-9
- Jarvis S, Parslow RC, Carragher P, Beresford B, Fraser LK. How many children and 33. young people with life-limiting conditions are clinically unstable? A national data linkage study. Archives of Disease in Childhood 2017;102:131. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2016-310800
- Boyatzis C. Spiritual development during childhood and adolescence. In: Miller L, 34. editor. The Oxford Handbook of Psychology and SpiritualityNew York: Oxford University Press; 2012:151-64.
- 35. Benson PL, Roehlkepartain EC, Rude SP. Spiritual Development in Childhood and Adolescence: Toward a Field of Inquiry. Applied Developmental Science 2003;7:205-13. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0703 12
- Roehlkepartain E, Ebsteyne King, P., Wagener, L. and Benson, P. The Handbook of Spiritual Development in Childhood and Adolescence Sage; 2006.
- 37. Smith J, McSherry W. Spirituality and child development: a concept analysis. *Journal* of Advanced Nursing 2004;45:307-15. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02891.x
- Hay D, Nye R. Investigating Children's Spirituality: the Need for a Fruitful Hypothesis. International Journal of Children's Spirituality 1996;1:6-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364436960010103
- Roehlkepartain EC, King PE, Wagener L, Benson PL. The Handbook of Spiritual Development in Childhood and Adolescence. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Inc.; 2005.
- 40. Bates AT, Kearney JA. Understanding death with limited experience in life: dying children's and adolescents' understanding of their own terminal illness and death. Current opinion in supportive and palliative care 2015;9:40-5. https://doi.org/10.1097/spc.000000000000118
- Clayton M, Aldridge J. Fifteen-minute consultation: Not the whole story considering 41. children's spirituality and advance care planning. Arch Dis Child Educ Pract 2018; Published Online First: 28/09/18. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2017-314525
- 42. Roberts D. Insights from child development for paediatric chaplains. In: Nash PB, M; Nash, S, editor. Paediatric Chaplaincy: principles, practices and skillsLondon: Jessica Kingsley; 2018.
- 43. Damsma Bakker AA, van Leeuwen RRR, Roodbol PFP. The Spirituality of Children with Chronic Conditions: A Qualitative Meta-synthesis. Journal of pediatric nursing 2018;43:e106e13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2018.08.003
- Kenyon B. Current research in children's conceptions of death: a critical review. 44. Omega 2001;**43**:63-91.
- 45. Nye R. Child spirituality and faith development. In: Nash PB, P; Nash, S., editor. Paediatric Chaplaincy: principles, practices and skillsLondon: Jessica Kingsley; 2018.
- Namisango E, Bristowe K, Allsop MJ, Murtagh FEM, Abas M, Higginson IJ, et al. Symptoms and Concerns Among Children and Young People with Life-Limiting and Life-Threatening Conditions: A Systematic Review Highlighting Meaningful Health Outcomes. The patient 2019;12:15-55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40271-018-0333-5

- 47. Wiener L, Kazak AE, Noll RB, Patenaude AF, Kupst MJ. Standards for the Psychosocial Care of Children With Cancer and Their Families: An Introduction to the Special Issue. 2015;**62**:S419-S24. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.25675
- McNamara Barry C, Nelson L, Davarya S, Urry S. Religiosity and spirituality during the transition to adulthood. International Journal of Behavioral Development 2010;34:311-24. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025409350964
- 49. Cotton S, Zebracki K, Rosenthal SL, Tsevat J, Drotar D. Religion/spirituality and adolescent health outcomes: a review. The Journal of adolescent health: official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine 2006;38:472-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2005.10.005
- Dias N, Docherty S, Brandon D. Parental bereavement: Looking beyond grief. Death 50. Studies 2017;41:318-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2017.1279239
- Ljungman L, Boger M, Ander M, Ljótsson B, Cernvall M, von Essen L, et al. Impressions That Last: Particularly Negative and Positive Experiences Reported by Parents Five Years after the End of a Child's Successful Cancer Treatment or Death. PLOS ONE 2016;**11**:e0157076. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157076
- Milic J, Muka T, Ikram MA, Franco OH, Tiemeier H. Determinants and Predictors of Grief Severity and Persistence: The Rotterdam Study. 2017;29:1288-307. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264317720715
- Melin-Johansson C, Axelsson I, Jonsson Grundberg M, Hallqvist F. When a child dies: parents' experiences of palliative care-an integrative literature review. Journal of pediatric nursing 2014;29:660-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2014.06.009
- Stevenson M, Achille M, Lugasi T. Pediatric palliative care in Canada and the United States: a qualitative metasummary of the needs of patients and families. Journal of palliative medicine 2013;**16**:566-77. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2011.0076
- Hexem KR, Mollen CJ, Carroll K, Lanctot DA, Feudtner C. How parents of children receiving pediatric palliative care use religion, spirituality, or life philosophy in tough times. Journal of palliative medicine 2011;**14**:39-44. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2010.0256
- Nash P, McSherry W. What is the Distinctiveness of Paediatric Chaplaincy? Findings from a Systematic Review of the Literature. Health and Social Care Chaplaincy 2017;5. https://doi.org/10.1558/hscc.31816
- 57. Nash P, Roberts E, Nash S, Darby K, Parwaz AA. Auditing a Paediatric Chaplaincy Provision: Reflections on the Use of a Taxonomy. Health and Social Care Chaplaincy 2019;6. https://doi.org/10.1558/hscc.35698
- Aschenbrenner AP, Winters JM, Belknap RA. Integrative review: parent perspectives on care of their child at the end of life. *Journal of pediatric nursing* 2012;**27**:514-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2011.07.008
- Nash P, Roberts E, Nash S, Darby K, Parwaz AA. Adapting the Advocate Health Care Taxonomy of Chaplaincy for a Pediatric Hospital Context: A Pilot Study. Journal of health care chaplaincy 2019;**25**:61-75. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2018.1473911
- Liefbroer AI, Olsman E, Ganzevoort RR, van Etten-Jamaludin FS. Interfaith Spiritual Care: A Systematic Review. J Relig Health 2017;56:1776-93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-017-0369-1
- British Social Attitudes Survey. In: NatCen, ed.; 2013. 61.
- 62. Chattoo SAK, Craig G, Flynn R. *Understanding 'Race' and Ethnicity: Theory, history,* policy and practice 2nd edn. Bristol: Policy Press; 2019.

63. Booth A, Maddison J, Wright K, Fraser L, Beresford B. Research prioritisation exercises related to the care of children and young people with life-limiting conditions, their parents and all those who care for them: A systematic scoping review. 2018;32:1552-66. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216318800172

IRAS Project ID: 288298

- Beresford B, Booth A, Fraser LK. A consultation with stakeholders about research 64. priorities for the Martin House Research Centre: University of York, Martin House Research Centre; 2017. URL:
- https://www.york.ac.uk/media/healthsciences/documents/research/publichealth/mhrc/MHRC%20research%20priorities%20consulation%20event%20report.pdf.
- Aldiss S, Fern LA, Phillips B, Gibson F. Teenage and Young Adult Cancer: Research 65. Priorities. Final Report of the James Lind Alliance Priority Setting Partnership; 2018. URL: http://www.jla.nihr.ac.uk/priority-setting-partnerships/teenage-and-young-adultcancer/downloads/Teenage-and-Young-Adult-Cancer-PSP-final-report.pdf.
- 66. Raffay J, Wood E, Todd A. Service user views of spiritual and pastoral care (chaplaincy) in NHS mental health services: a co-produced constructivist grounded theory investigation. BMC Psychiatry 2016;16:200. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0903-9
- Sulmasy DP. A Biopsychosocial-Spiritual Model for the Care of Patients at the End of Life. The Gerontologist 2002;**42**:24-33. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/42.suppl 3.24 %J The Gerontologist
- 68. Hatala AR. Towards a Biopsychosocial-Spiritual Approach in Health Psychology: Exploring Theoretical Orientations and Future Directions. Journal of Spirituality in Mental Health 2013;15:256-76. https://doi.org/10.1080/19349637.2013.776448
- 69. The clinical application of the biopsychosocial model. 1980;137:535-44. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.137.5.535
- 70. Parameshwaran R. Theory and practice of chaplain's spiritual care process: A psychiatrist's experiences of chaplaincy and conceptualizing trans-personal model of mindfulness. Indian J Psychiatry 2015;**57**:21-9. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5545.148511
- 71. Snowden A, Lobb EA, Schmidt S, Swing AM, Logan P, Macfarlane C. 'What's on your mind?' The only necessary question in spiritual care. Journal for the Study of Spirituality 2018;**8**:19-33. https://doi.org/10.1080/20440243.2018.1431031
- Burke K, Coombes LH, Menezes A, Anderson A-K. The 'surprise' question in 72. paediatric palliative care: A prospective cohort study. Palliative Medicine 2017;32:535-42. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216317716061
- 73. Harris DA. Lived-through past, experienced present, anticipated future: Understanding "existential loss" in the context of life-limiting illness. Palliative & supportive care 2015;**13**:1579-94. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1478951515000620
- Johnson M, O'Hara R, Hirst E, Weyman A, Turner J, Mason S, et al. Multiple 74. triangulation and collaborative research using qualitative methods to explore decision making in pre-hospital emergency care. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2017;17:11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0290-z
- 75. Ryan B. A very modern ministry: chaplaincy in the UK. London: THEOS; 2015.
- 76. Hsieh H-F, Shannon SE. Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis. Qualitative Health Research 2005;15:1277-88. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687
- Mistretta E. Spirituality in young adults with end-stage cancer: a review of the literature and call for research. Annals of Palliative Medicine 2017;6:279-83.
- 78. Sque M, W. Walker, and T. Long-Sutehall,. Research with bereaved families: a framework for ethical decision-making. Nurs Ethics 2014;21:946-55.

- 79. DeJonckheere M, Vaughn LM. Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigour. Family Medicine and Community Health 2019;**7**:e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- O'Reilly M, Dogra N. *Interviewing Children and Young People for Research*. London: Sage Publications; 2017. URL: https://methods.sagepub.com/book/interviewing-childrenand-young-people-for-research-srm https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526419439 (Accessed: 2021/01/02).
- Whale K. The use of Skype and telephone interviews in sensitive qualitative research with young people: experiences from the ROCCA continence study. Qualitative Methods in Psychology Bulletin 2017;23.
- Vogl S. Telephone Versus Face-to-Face Interviews: Mode Effect on Semistructured Interviews with Children. Sociological Methodology 2013;43:133-77. https://doi.org/10.1177/0081175012465967
- 83. Bryan G, Bluebond-Langner M, Kelly D, Kumpunen S, Oulton K, Gibson F. Studying Children's Experiences in Interactions With Clinicians: Identifying Methods Fit for Purpose. 2019;**29**:393-403. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318801358
- Haijes HA, van Thiel GJMW. Participatory methods in pediatric participatory research: a systematic review. Pediatric Research 2015;79:676. https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2015.279
- Kandemir A, Budd R. Using Vignettes to Explore Reality and Values With Young People. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research 2018;19. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.2.2914
- Angell C, Alexander J, Hunt JA. 'Draw, write and tell': A literature review and methodological development on the 'draw and write' research method. Journal of Early Childhood Research 2014;13:17-28. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X14538592
- Nash P, Darby K, Nash S. Spiritual Care with Sick Children and Young People: A handbook for chaplains, paediatric health professionals, arts therapists and youth workers. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers; 2015.
- Soffer M, Ben-Arieh B. School-Aged Children as Sources of Information about their Lives. In: Melton GB, Ben-Arieh A, Cashmore J, Goodman GS, Worley NK, editors. The SAGE Handbook of Child ResearchLondon: SAGE Publications Ltd.; 2013.
- Fargas-Malet M, McSherry D, Larkin E, Robinson C. research with children: methodological issues and innovative techniques. 2010;8:175-92. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718x09345412
- Beresford B, Tozer R, Rabiee P, Sloper P. Developing an approach to involving children with autistic spectrum disorders in a social care research project. 2004;**32**:180-5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3156.2004.00318.x
- 91. Rabiee P, Sloper P, Beresford B. Doing research with children and young people who do not use speech for communication. 2005;19:385-96. https://doi.org/10.1002/chi.841
- Mukherjee S BB, Sebastian S, Atkin K. Living with inflammatory bowel disease: the 92. experiences of adults of South Asian origin. York: University of York; 2015.
- 93. Miles MB. Quantitative Data Analysis: a methods sourcebook: Sage; 2019.
- 94. Boeije H. A Purposeful Approach to the Constant Comparative Method in the Analysis of Qualitative Interviews. *Quality and Quantity* 2002;**36**:391-409. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020909529486
- 95. Ritchie J SL. Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. London: Sage; 2002.

96. Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC medical research methodology* 2013;**13**:117-. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-117
97. McCrudden M, Schraw G, Buckendahl C. *Use of Visual Displays in Research and*

Testing: Coding, Interpreting, and Reporting Data: Information Age Publishing; 2015.

34

15 Appendix 1: Strategies to manage risks associated with WP3

- Researchers will be highly experienced in researching sensitive topics with children and young people (and parents) who are vulnerable. They will be thoroughly trained, including input from young people and parents, and closely supervised by the CI.
- Interviewees can choose to have a companion with them during the interview.
- Clinical teams will only identify children/young person/parents aware of their prognosis. They can choose not to approach particular individuals due to concerns about vulnerability. (We will ask sites to record such decisions). We will explore only recruiting families where advance care planning has taken place. However, the way ACPs are implemented is highly variable so this would have to be considered in a site by site basis.
- We will use text and audio-visual participant information resources we believe this will support greater understanding of the study and help individuals to discern whether they are 'ready' and/or able to take part in a study such as this. Our Advisory Panels will be closely involved in the development of these materials.
- All recruitment information and the consenting process will be clear that the individual can choose what they discuss and when to close the interview.
- Interviews will be structured so that there is a gradual progress to more sensitive topics and then a "lifting" of the interview towards the end by focusing on more concrete and general topics.
- Interviews will be "led" by the study participant in terms of what, and how much, they choose to talk about regarding the interview topic areas, with opening questions on each topic being quite neutral and high level.
- Researchers will be highly attuned and respond to verbal and non-verbal indicators of unease or early signs of upset. This may include steering the conversation to other topics or to a more neutral level, or gently reflecting they are observing unease/distress and asking the interviewee if they would like to pause, change direction, or end the interview.
- At the close of the interview, researchers will check with the interviewee about how they have found the interview and if any concerns raised.
- Evidence from existing research on sensitive topics consistently finds that, when carefully managed using strategies such as those set out above, research participants find benefit in taking part. However, it remains possible that a participant experiences significant distress. In these circumstances, the following approach will be taken:
 - i) carefully reassure it is fine not to continue the interview;
 - ii) identify with the interviewee preferred strategies to manage distress including available sources of immediate support;
 - iii) if required, enable/support the interviewee to make contact/access sources of immediate support;
 - iv) rehearse sources of support the interviewee (or parent) can contact in the next day or so (e.g. clinical team, hospice, chaplaincy service, support group, GP, faith community);

- v) where agreement in place (e.g. clinical team, chaplaincy service) and interviewee requests, contact service on interviewee's behalf or alert that interviewee will be in touch;
- vi) remain with the individual until satisfied distress has (sufficiently) eased; vii)All such instances will be recorded, and reported and debriefed with the CI.